I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Brent Pettis, the appellant below, asks the court to 

review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Brent Pettis seeks review ofthe Court of Appeals Opinion entered 

on June 4, 2015. A copy ofthe Opinion is attached. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

ISSUE 1: Governmental interference with a fundamental liberty interest 
must be narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. Does 
Mr. Pettis's continued total confinement at the Special Commitment 
Center (SCC) violate substantive due process when it is undisputed 
that he can be safely treated at the department's less-restrictive Secure 
Community Treatment Facility (SCTF)? 

ISSUE 2: Substantive due process prohibits confinement based on 
arbitrary government action. Does Mr. Pettis's continued total 
confinement violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process 
when it is based on an arbitrary unwritten policy, despite the consensus 
that he can be safely treated at the SCTF? 

ISSUE 3: The process due a person facing deprivation of a liberty 
interest depends on the nature of the interest, the risk of error under the 
current procedure, and any state interest in maintaining the current 
procedure. Does RCW 71.09 violate procedural due process under the 
Fourteenth Amendment by failing to provide for review of the SCC's 
decision not to transfer Mr. Pettis to the less-restrictive community 
facility, based on an arbitrary unwritten policy? 

ISSUE 4: Evidence based on novel scientific methodology is 
inadmissible unless it is generally accepted by the relevant 
professional community and capable of producing reliable results. Did 
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the court err by admitting evidence that does not pass the Frye1 test 
based on a novel actuarial instrument that has only a 55% reliability 
rating? 

IV. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

Brent Pettis stipulated to his status as a sexually violent predator 

upon his release from prison in 2001. RP 170, 670. For ten years 

thereafter, he actively engaged in sex offender treatment at the Special 

Commitment Center (SCC) on McNeil Island. RP 1110. 

Mr. Pettis had one of the best treatment portfolios at the SCC. RP 

672; CP 64. His treatment assignments demonstrated detailed, thorough, 

and transparent work. CP 67. He discussed his offense cycle and risk 

factors openly and honestly. CP 66-67. He internalized the principles he 

learned and put them to use in his daily life. RP 670. He successfully 

employed treatment techniques to reduce his deviant arousal from 40% to 

7% in one test.2 CP 65. 

In 2011, Mr. Pettis decided that the SCC's formal treatment 

program no longer benefited him. RP 674. His treatment provider found 

his decision to forego additional formal treatment to be reasonable and 

measured, not reactionary. RP 674. 

1 Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013, 34 A.L.R. 145 (D.C.Cir.l923). 
2 Mr. Pettis also underwent a penile plethysmograph (PPG) test in August of2013. CP 
415. The results showed that he had significantly higher arousal to consensual activity 
with adult men than to children. CP 415. 
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Mr. Pettis continued treatment on his own. RP 676. He authored a 

workbook of more than seventy pages. His workbook incorporated his 

Native American spiritual beliefs into what he'd learned during his ten 

years of formal sex offender treatment. RP 690, 693; CP 411. 

In January 2013, Mr. Pettis petitioned the court for a release trial. 

CP 4 7-99. The court found that Mr. Pettis had presented prima facie 

evidence that his condition had so changed through treatment that he no 

longer met the definition of a sexually violent predator. CP 213. 

By the time of trial, three different experts had evaluated Mr. 

Pettis. None of them thought that he still needed to be confined at the 

sec. CP 404; 425; 291-337. 

The state's expert witness, Dr. Amy Phenix, reported that Mr. 

Pettis could be safely treated in the community and that such treatment 

was in his best interest. CP 404. Dr. Phenix recommended that he be 

placed at the Secure Community Transition Facility (SCTF). 3 CP 404. 

Dr. Daniel Yanisch, who authored Mr. Pettis's annual review, 

agreed that Mr. Pettis's condition had changed such that he could be safely 

treated at the SCTF. CP 425. 

3 The SCTF was created pursuant to a federal injunction, after a finding that the 
SCC's failure to provide meaningful treatment violated the constitution. CP 251. The 
federal court found that a meaningful "step-down facility" was constitutionally required. 
CP 251 (citing Turay). 
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Mr. Pettis's own expert, Dr. Christopher Fisher, also opined that 

Mr. Pettis should not be confined at the SCC. CP 331. 

Despite the expert consensus, SCC staff refused to place Mr. Pettis 

at the SCTF. This decision resulted from an unwritten policy prohibiting 

transfer of any resident not in formal treatment at SCC. CP 283. 

At the beginning of trial, Mr. Pettis moved the court for an order 

transferring him to the SCTF. CP 246-251; RP 1327-1331. He argued 

that due process did not permit the state to keep him in total confinement 

under the circumstances. CP 246-251; RP 1328-29. The court denied Mr. 

Pettis's motion. RP 1354. The trial judge noted that the statute did not 

permit transfer to the SCTF unless the administration agreed in writing to 

house Mr. Pettis there. RP 1337, 1354. 

After receiving Dr. Yanisch's annual review, Mr. Pettis sought to 

expand the scope of trial to include the question of release to a less

restrictive alternative. CP 100. He withdrew that motion after the state 

threatened to seek interlocutory review. RP 1327. 

At trial, Dr. Phenix based a significant portion of her opinion on 

the Structured Risk-Assessment- Forensic Version (SRA-FV) tool. RP 

373-93. Mr. Pettis objected to any testimony about that tool, noting that 

the state could not lay a proper foundation because its reliability was so 

low. RP 332. 
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On voir dire, Dr. Phenix testified that the SRA-FV had an inter-

rater reliability score of 0.55. She explained that this meant that 

professionals evaluating an offender with the instrument would agree only 

55% of the time. She described this result as "moderate" or "fair." RP 

338- 339, 351. She said that some experts opine that an instrument's 

reliability should be at least 0.9 before it is used in a forensic setting. RP 

338. Dr. Phenix admitted that a rating of0.8 or above was desirable and 

that she hoped the SRA-FV's rating would go up over time. RP 338. 

The court allowed the state to rely on SRA-FV evidence.4 RP 352. 

The jury found that Mr. Pettis continued to qualify for civil 

commitment. RP 1293. The court ordered that he remain at the SCC, and 

Mr. Pettis sought review. CP 237; CP 240-242. 

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals ruled that the SRA-

FV meets the Frye test for admission of novel scientific evidence. 

Opinion, pp. 5-13. In the unpublished portion of its decision, the Court of 

Appeals declined to reach Mr. Pettis's due process challenges to the 

statutory scheme and unwritten rule that prohibits him from accessing the 

SCTF. Opinion, pp. 13-22. 

4 Even with the SRA-FV evidence, no actuarial instrument placed Mr. Pettis's risk of re
offense above 50% within five years. RP 401. Instead, his risk was assessed at 17.4-23.1%. 
RP 401. The instrument assigning Mr. Pettis the highest risk assigned him a re-offense range 
of 52.2% within ten years, but only at the highest end of the very wide confidence interval. 
RP 508. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Special Commitment Center's administration's role as 
exclusive gatekeeper to the Secure Community Treatment Facility 
violates due process because it permits total confmement even 
when public safety can be assured and treatment needs addressed 
in a less-restrictive setting. This significant question of 
constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be 
determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and ( 4). 

l. The civil commitment scheme violates substantive due process 
as applied to Mr. Pettis because it permits deprivation of liberty 
based on arbitrary government action and is not narrowly 
tailored to achieve the act's purposes. 

The experts for the prosecution, defense, and DSHS all agree that 

Mr. Pettis is ready for an LRA. CP 404; 425; 291-337. But no LRA is 

available to him because the sec administration will not agree to "house" 

him at the SCTF. CP 283; RP 1337, 1354. 

As a result, Mr. Pettis remains in total confinement even though he 

can be safely treated in a less restrictive environment. Because it is not 

narrowly tailored and permits deprivations of liberty based on arbitrary 

governmental action, the sec administration's role as exclusive gate-

keeper to the SCTF violates substantive due process as applied here. 

The right to substantive due process guarantees freedom from 

restraint based on arbitrary government action. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; 

Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 

(1992); Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558,565, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 
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L.Ed.2d 508 (2003); Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 

147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000). 

The constitutionality of RCW 71.09 rests in part on the existence 

ofthe SCTF, Washington's step-down facility. 5 But, the statute permits 

courts to conditionally release a person to the SCTF -- pursuant to a least 

restrictive alternative (LRA) order-- only if the SCTF agrees in writing to 

accept the detainee for conditional release. RCW 71.09.092(3). 

There is no statutory provision requiring the SCTF to accept a 

person even if all of the experts agree that housing at the SCTF would 

effectuate the purposes of the act. See RCW chapter 71.09 generally. 

There is also no provision permitting the court to order the SCTF to accept 

such a person. !d. 

Accordingly, RCW 71.09 permits the SCC to hold a person in total 

confinement even when it is undisputed that s/he could be safely treated in 

the less restrictive SCTF. The court is powerless to step in if the 

gatekeepers at the sec refuse to agree to the person's admission to the 

SCTF. The SCC administration's role as exclusive gatekeeper to the 

5 In order to comply with the constitution, a civil commitment scheme such as RCW 
71.09 must include provisions for a step-down facility. This is so because "[m]ental 
health treatment, if it is to be anything other than a sham, must give the confined person 
the hope that if he gets well enough to be safely released, then he will be transferred to 
some less restrictive alternative." See Turay v. Selig, May 5, 2000 p. II (contained within 
Lieb, R, After Hendricks: Defining Constitutional Treatment for Washington State's Civil 
Commitment Program, Washington State Institute for Public Policy, 2003); Available at: 
http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/Reports/93. 
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SCTF violates substantive due process because it permits total confine

ment based on arbitrary government action. Foucha, 504 U.S. at 80. 

Still, the Court of Appeals avoids the due process issue in this case. 

That court points to the statutory provision that "[n]othing contained in 

this chapter shall prohibit the person from otherwise petitioning the court 

for conditional release to a less restrictive alternative or unconditional 

discharge without the secretary's approval." Opinion, p. 18 (citing RCW 

71.09 .090(2)). 

But an LRA trial is not available to Mr. Pettis under the statutory 

scheme. In order to overcome the initial probable cause determination, he 

must show that the administration has "agreed in writing to accept" him at 

the SCTF. RCW 71.09.092(3). The administration's refusal to accept Mr. 

Pettis at the SCTF despite his readiness for the move poses a roadblock 

preventing his access to any of the other statutory safeguards. The court 

erred by relying on those safeguards to bypass his due process claims. 

The Court of Appeals also notes that the SCTF is not the only 

possible source of an LRA. Opinion, pp. 18-19. The lower court reasons 

that if the SCC administration refused to house Mr. Pettis at the SCTF, he 

could simply seek a community-based LRA with housing elsewhere. 

Opinion, pp. 18-19. 
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But the SCTF is a constitutionally-mandated, government-run 

facility where offenders are housed and treated by the state.6 It is not the 

equivalent of private housing. Indeed, as the state emphasized at trial, Mr. 

Pettis does not have any resources or connections in the community. RP 

406, 546-47. A private LRA is not available to him. Again, the Court of 

Appeals errs by sidestepping Mr. Pettis's constitutional claims based on 

considerations that simply do not apply. 

Freedom from physical detention is "the most elemental of liberty 

interests ... " Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 U.S. 507, 529, 124 S.Ct. 2633, 159 

L.Ed.2d 578 (2004). Deprivations of physical liberty are afforded the 

strongest of due process protection: strict scrutiny. In re Young, 122 

Wn.2d 1, 26, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). 

Under strict scrutiny, the provisions ofRCW 71.09 are 

unconstitutional unless narrowly tailored to further a compelling interest. 

Id; In re Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002). 

If a less restrictive alternative would serve the government's 

purpose, due process requires the government use that alternative. United 

States v. Playboy Entm 't Grp., Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 813, 120 S.Ct. 1878, 

6 See Turay v. Selig, May 5, 2000 p. 11 (contained within Lieb, R, After Hendricks: 
Defining Constitutional Treatment for Washington State's Civil Commitment Program, 
Washington State Institute for Public Policy, 2003); Available at: 
http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/Reports/93. 

9 



146 L.Ed.2d 865 (2000) (applying strict scrutiny in the free speech 

context). 

The government has a compelling interest in protecting society and 

treating those who qualify for commitment under RCW 71.09. Young, 

122 Wn.2d at 26 superseded on other grounds as recognized by In re Det. 

of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). But "not all sex predators 

present the same level of danger, nor do they require identical treatment 

conditions." Young, 122 Wn.2d at 47. 

As applied to Mr. Pettis, the LRA scheme cannot survive strict 

scrutiny. Playboy Entm't Grp., Inc., 529 U.S. at 813. 

No relevant expert believes that Mr. Pettis requires total 

confinement. 7 Public safety can be assured and Mr. Pettis's treatment 

needs can be met at the SCTF. Even so, the statutes and the SCC 

administration's gate-keeping role allow him to be kept in total 

7 The Court of Appeals takes issue with this claim, noting that Mr. Pettis's annual 
evaluations from prior years did not all agree that he was suitable for an LRA. Opinion, p. 
20. The court also points out that the SCC administration did not approve of his transfer to an 
LRA. Opinion, p. 20. But outdated evaluations are not relevant; all current evaluations 
agreed that Mr. Pettis could be safely treated at the SCTF at the time of the hearing. The 
annual review that found Mr. Pettis suitable for transfer to the SCTF was authored by an 
sec employee and comports with the statutory procedure designed to protect the 
department's interests. CP 425. The views of other employees at the SCC are, likewise, 
irrelevant to the inquiry 

The Court of Appeals also points to the statutory requirement that a person 
demonstrate that he has "so changed" through ongoing treatment that an LRA could protect 
the community and provide treatment. Opinion, p. 20. Mr. Pettis has met that burden in this 
case. He actively participated in treatment for ten years, leading all three relevant experts to 
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confinement pursuant to unwritten policies unrelated to the purposes of the 

act. This violates Mr. Pettis's right to due process because it permits the 

government to completely deprive him of liberty in a manner that is not 

narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling interest. ld.; Washington v. 

G/ucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 721, 117 S.Ct. 2258, 138 L.Ed.2d 772 (1997). 

The SCC administration's role as exclusive gatekeeper to the 

SCTF violates Mr. Pettis's right to due process because it permits his total 

confinement based on arbitrary government action. Foucha, 504 U.S. at 

80. The statutory scheme, which permits total confinement even when a 

person can be safely treated at the SCTF, violates due process because it is 

not narrowly tailored. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. at 721. This court must 

reverse the lower court's denial ofMr. Pettis's motion to be placed at the 

SCTF. The case must be remanded with instructions to order the SCC to 

transfer Mr. Pettis to the SCTF. 

This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial 

public interest and should be reviewed by the Supreme Court. RAP 

13.4(b)(3)-(4). This court should grant review. 

2. The SCC administration's role as exclusive gatekeeper to the 
SCTF violates procedural due process as applied to Mr. Pettis 

agree that he no longer required total confinement. 1t is not reasonably in dispute that Mr. 
Pettis has "so changed" as to be eligible for an LRA. 
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because it does not provide a process through which he can 
seek review of his total confinement. 

The process due under the Fourteenth Amendment depends on a 

balance of ( 1) the private interest affected by governmental action; (2) the 

risk of erroneous deprivation of fundamental rights; and (3) the 

government's interest, including any fiscal burden. Addington v. Texas, 

441 U.S. 418, 425, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979) (citing Mathews 

v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)). 

Civil commitment procedures must comport with procedural due 

process. Addington, 441 U.S. 418; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. 

Const. art. I, § 3. 

As outlined above, the statutory scheme at RCW 71.09 does not 

permit a person in Mr. Pettis's situation to move from the total 

confinement of the SCC to the less restrictive SCTF unless the agency that 

runs both facilities agrees in writing to house him at the SCTF. RCW 

71.09.092(3). 

Because of an unwritten policy, the administration will not agree to 

move Mr. Pettis to the SCTF even though it is undisputed that he can be 

safely treated in that environment. There is currently no mechanism in 

place for Mr. Pettis to seek review of the administration's refusal to house 

him at the SCTF. 
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The Mathews factors weigh in favor of judicial review of the SCC 

administration's refusal to transfer Mr. Pettis to the SCTF. 

First, Mr. Pettis's private interest in freedom from unreasonable 

confinement is extremely high. See Addington, 441 U.S. at 425. 

Second, the risk of the erroneous deprivation ofMr. Pettis's liberty 

resulting from the sec administration's refusal to transfer him is also 

high. As demonstrated by this case, the current procedure permits the 

administration to refuse transfer to the less-restrictive SCTF even when 

every expert who has examined Mr. Pettis opines that transfer is 

appropriate. The sec administration's role as the exclusive gatekeeper to 

the relative freedom of the SCTF, subject to whims and unwritten policies, 

creates a significant risk of erroneous deprivation of liberty. 

Finally, the state has no interest in holding people in total 

confinement when doing so no longer serves treatment needs or public 

safety. See Addington, 441 U.S. at 426. The cost of an additional review 

process would be minimal. Indeed, Mr. Pettis's unique circumstances are 

unlikely to recur in many cases. 

Even so, the Court of Appeals declined to reach Mr. Pettis's 

procedural due process claim because he "did not comply with the 

statutory procedure" by petitioning for a show cause hearing on an LRA. 

Opinion, pp. 21-22. 
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But the statutory procedure was not available to Mr. Pettis. His 

petition for a show cause hearing on an LRA could have required him to 

demonstrate that he had met all of the elements of RCW 71.09.092. He 

could not overcome that initial probable cause hurdle because the SCC 

administration would not agree to house him at the SCTF. As long as the 

sec administration remains exclusive gatekeeper of admission to the 

SCTF, the statutory procedures are meaningless in Mr. Pettis's case. 

All three Mathews factors weigh in favor of judicial review when 

the SCC unreasonably refuses to transfer a person to the SCTF. Mathews, 

424 U.S. at 335. The court violated Mr. Pettis's right to procedural due 

process by declining to review the sec administration's refusal to transfer 

him the SCTF. Mathews, 424 U.S. at 335; Addington, 441 U.S. at 425. 

This constitutional issue is of substantial public interest. This 

court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

B. The SRA-FV is too unreliable for admission under the Frye standard. 
The Court of Appeals' published decision presents an issue of 
substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

The state's expert's opinion ofMr. Pettis's future dangerousness 

was based largely on her analysis of him using the SRA-FV tool. RP 373-

393. Dr. Phenix testified at length regarding her use of the SRA-FV and 

why it meant that Mr. Pettis should not be released. RP 373-393. 
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But the chance that two experts using the SRA-FV will reach the 

same conclusions about a person's future risk is only 55%. RP 338,486.

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