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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Pettis argues that his constitutional rights were violated by the trial court's 

denial of his request that the court "compel" his transfer to the SCTF in the face of 

the "undisputed" "consensus" of "all experts" that such transfer is appropriate. He 

also argues that "only an unwritten sec policy" requiring current treatment 

participation prevented his transfer to the SCTF ~ The "facts" upon which he bases 

these claims are, however, unsupported by the record and as such this case does not 

present the constitutional issues he seeks to have this Court address. First, various 

experts expressed concerns regarding Pettis' suitability for conditional release, and 

there was no ''undisputed" "consensus" that SCTF placement was appropriate. 
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Second, Pettis did not demonstrate the existence of an "unwritten policy" preventing 

his transfer to the SCTF. While Pettis has a constitutional right under the equal 

protection clause to consideration of a less restrictive alternative to confinement, he 

completely disregarded the statutory procedures in place for obtaining conditional 

release in favor of lodging a last-minute demand that the trial court simply "compel" 

his placement at the SCTF in lieu of going forward with the trial that the trial court 

had ordered and for which the parties had prepared. Pettis has failed to demonstrate 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the statutory procedure for consideration of less 

restrictive alternatives to confinement is unconstitutional or that he is entitled to 

relief of any kind. 

Nor is his argument relating to the SRA-FV well taken: The evidence 

presented at the Frye hearing established that the SRA-FV is generally accepted by 

experts in the relevant fields and that it is capable of being applied in such a way as 

to obtain reliable results; The Court of Appeals' decision was correct, and this Court 

should deny review. 

A. Pettis's Factual Allegations Are Unsupported By the Record 

Due to the entirely irregular way in which Pettis' request for transfer to the 

SCTF came before the trial court (see Sec. IV (B)), there was no opportunity to 

determine - through an orderly process of discovery - what the facts relating to 

Pettis' attempts to be transferred to the SCTF actually were. That said, the "facts" 

upon which Pettis bases his constitutional claims range, at best, from "possibly true" 

to, at worst, demonstrably false, and as such, the court below properly declined to 

consider this argument. 
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Pettis asserts that it is "undisputed that he can safely be treated" at the SCTF 

(Pet. at 7, 12) and "every expert who has examined Mr. Pettis opines that transfer is 

appropriate." Id at 13. This is simply not correct. While it is true that certain experts 

supported a move to the SCTF, others did not. Dr. Manley, in his 2010 annual 

review, supported placement at the SCT. CP 269. This recommendation was, 

however, not supported by the Senior Clinical Team (CP 377-78) and Dr. Manley 

did not include that recommendation in his 2011 report, having become concerned, 

apparently after having talked to Pettis' treatment providers, that Pettis "may be 

~asturbating to deviant fantasies." CP 387. Dr. van Dam, who submitted DSHS' 

2012 annual review, agreed, stating that "conditional release to a secure facility, such 

as the Pierce County SCTF, would not be in his best interest at the present time." CP 

12. Likewise Dr. Yanisch, contrary to Pettis' assertions, did not opine that Pettis 

"could be safely treated at the SCTF." Pet. at 3. In fact, in the annual review to which 

Pettis refers, Dr. Y anisch agreed that an LRA was appropriate but did not 

recommend the SCTF, noting. that Pettis' refusal to re-engage in treatment "appears 

quite self-defeating and stubborn, and poses a significant barrier to getting what he 

professes to want." CP 421.. Had Pettis remained in treatment rather than dropping 

out in 2011, Dr. Y anisch notes, "he would likely be supported in his pursuit of an 

SCTF placement by this time." CP 424. Likewise, both the current Clinical Director 

and the former Acting Clinical Director of the SCC, whose depositions were before 

the trial court at the time of Pettis' motion for summary transfer, expressed concerns 

about his suitability for placement at the SCTF. CP 279-287; 427-45l.While 

Dr. Phenix, in her 2013 report to the court, supported placement at the SCTF (CP 
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403), Pettis' own expert, Dr. Fischer, made no LRA recommendation, noting that 

Pettis, who at one point wanted to be placed at the SCTF, now supported 

unconditional release. CP 309. 

Nor, contrary to Pettis' assertions, does the available evidence demonstrate 

that "only an unwritten SCC policy [that the SVP be in "formal treatment"] prevents 

Mr. Pettis from being transferred to the SCTF." Pet. at 4, 12. Dr. Holly Coryell, 

Clinical Director of the SCC and a current member of Senior Clinical Team, testified 

that Seriior Clinical would review any case if requested to do so by the SCC's CEO, 

and that Pettis' attorneys would be "welcome" to request such review. CP 433. 

Pettis, however, submitted no evidence that the SCC had even been asked to consider 

his transfer to the SCTF since Dr. Manley had made that recommendation in 2010. 

CP 432; 439. 

Even if it were established that the SCC has an "unwritten rule" that transfer 

to the SCTF can occur only if the person is currently in treatment, such a policy is 

entirely reasonable and consistent with the legislative goal of community protection. 

The requirement of treatment as a prerequisite for release is central to the SVP law, 

intended to address the "small but extremely dangerous group of sexually violent 

predators" whose "likelihood of engaging in repeat acts of predatory sexual violence 

is high," the prognosis for curing them "poor," and their treatment needs "very long 

term." RCW 71.09.010 Findings. The central role of treatment in the sex predator 

scheme has been discussed on numerous occasions. In re Detention of Young, 

122·Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993); In re Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 

(2003); In re Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 986 P.2d 790 (1999). This Court has noted the 
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State's "substantial interest" in encouraging treatment, commenting that "[b ]y 

making treatment the only viable avenue to a release trial (absent a stroke, paralysis, 

or other physiological change), the State creates an incentive for participation in 

treatment," and protects public safety "by restricting evidentiary hearings to those 

who have participated in treatment." State v. David McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 

'394-95, 394, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). Thus even assuming that Pettis is currently 

ineligible for placement at the SCTF because he is not in treatment, that position is 

reasonable, based on the legislative finding and intent, and not "arbitrary." 

B. Pettis Failed To Follow Mandatory Statutory Procedures For 
Consideration Of An LRA 

Rather than following the procedure clearly set forth in RCW 71.09.090, 

Pettis sought to circumvent that procedure by filing a last-minute request fo~ his 

summary transfer to the SCTF. The Court of Appeals properly determined that these 

procedures were available to him, and that he had not shown his right to due process 

was violated. 

A person determined by the court to be an SVP is committed to the custody 

of DSHS for placement in a secure facility until such time as release, whether 

conditional or unconditional, is appropriate. RCW 71.09.060(1). If, following 

commitment, the Secretary of DSHS determines that the person's condition has "so 

changed" such that s!he should be released (whether conditionally or 

unconditionally), the Secretary may au~orize the person to file a petition for release, 

and a trial must be set within 45 days. RCW 71.09.090(1). 
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Even without the authorizatioR of the Secretary, an SVP may petition at any 

time for either an unconditional ·discharge trial or an · LRA trial. 

RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). At the resulting hearing, the trial court may order ati 

evidentiary hearing based on a showing a probable cause. RCW 71.09.090(c). While, 

depending on the history of the case, the SVP may or may not need to show change 

in order to be granted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of conditional release to an 

LRA,8 a trial court may not fmd probable cause for an LRA trial unless and until a 

specific proposal has been presented to the court. RCW 71.09..090(3)(d). 

Specifically, the SVP must show that a qualified treatment provider has agreed to 

provide care, has proposed a specific course of treatment, and has agreed to certmn 

reporting requirements. RCW 71.09.092(1) & (2). The SVP must also demonstrate 

that s/he has obtained housing that is "sufficiently secure," and is willing to 

cooperate with both the Department of Corrections and the treatment provider. RCW 

71.09.092(3)-(5). 

By filing his request that the trial court "compel" his transfer to the SCTF, 

Pettis disregarded established statutory procedures in every possible regard. First, he 

did not file a petition for consideration of an LRA as required by 

RCW 71.09.090(2)(a).9 Filing of such a petition would have triggered a show cause 

hearing at which the court could have determined whether probable cause for a trial 

8 If release has been previously considered, either through a trial on the merits or through 
summary judgment as outlined in RCW 71.09.094(1), the SVP must present evidence that he or she 
has "so changed" such that release is appropriate. RCW 71.09.09.0(2)(c) & (d). If the court has not 
previously considered the issue of release to a less restrictive alternative, no showing of change is 
required. RCW 71.09.090(2)(d). 

9 Although, as noted above, Pettis did in fact file his one-paragraph ''Petition" roughly one 
month before trial (CP 1 00), he subsequently withdrew it (RP 1327) and it is not at issue in this 
appeal. 
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on that issue existed. Nor did Pettis present a proposed LRA that satisfied the 

conditions ofRCW 71.09.092. Specifically, he did not produce a treatment plan or a 

written housing agreement. Instead, Pettis unilaterally proposed that he be 

transferred to the SCTF, an LRA housing facility administered· by the SCC for which 

Pettis had not been approved. See RCW 71.09.250(1)(a). As such, he had no written 

agreement that he be housed there. Absent a written treatment plan and a written 

housing agreement, Pettis could not establish probable cause for an LRA trial. 

Nor was there any statutory authority for Pettis' unilateral request that the 

trial court "compel" his transfer to the SCTF. Even assuming Pettis had followed 

established procedures and been able to establish probable cause for an LRA trial, 

the State would have been entitled to a jury trial. RCW 71.09.090(3). Because the 

State bears the burden of proof at an LRA trial (RCW 71.09.090 (3)(c), the statute 

and the case law provide for a period of discovery both prior to the show cause 

hearing and prior to any LRA trial ordered as a result of the show cause hearing. See 

In re Detention of Petersen, 145 Wn.2d 789, 801,42 P.3d 952 (2002) (SVP allowed 

to conduct discovery prior to a show cause hearing in accordance with rules of civil 

procedure). Such discovery, the Court of Appeals has noted, could affect the 

sufficiency of an SVP's proposed LRA. In re Jones, 149 Wn. App. 16, 28-29, 

201 P.3d 1066 (2009). Finally, because the SVPA does· not contemplate such 

summary action on the . part of the trial court, it would have been completely 

improper for the court to order DSHS, which was not a party to the SVP proceeding 

and had not been provided with notice of his motion, ~o place Pettis in the SCTF 

without first providing DSHS with an opportunity to be heard on the issue. 
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C. The Statutory Process for Obtaining an LRA Satisfies Due Process 

A court will not decide an issue on constitutional grounds when that issue can 

be resolved on other grounds. See Tommy P. v. Board of County Comm 'rs, 97 Wn.2d 

385, 391, 645 P.2d 697 (1982). Because the factual premises upon which Pettis' 

constitutional claims are based are not correct, and because this issue can be resolved 

simply by reference to his failure to follow statutory procedure, this Court should 

decline to reach his asserted constitutional question. 

Even if the Court considers these claims, they fail. Pettis has not established 

that he has a constitutionally protected liberty interest under the due process clause to 

summary placement at the SCTF, and the statute's failure to provide him with this 

avenue does not render the statute unconstitutional. This Court has determined that 

the statutory procedure for post-commitment release comports with substantive due 

process and accurately identifies those who are no longer mentally ill and dangerous. 

"Substantive due process," this Court has held, "requires only that the State conduct 

periodic review of the patient's suitability for release." McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 

385 (citing Jones v. United States, 463 U.S. 354, 368, 103 S. Ct. 3043, 77 L. Ed. 2d 

694 (1983)). "[A]dditional safeguards that go beyond the requirements of substantive 

due process" are provided by the statutory right to show that one's condition has "so 

changed" as to merit a new trial. Id. (emphasis added). The statute, the Court noted, 

requires DSHS to authorize a petition for relief where DSHS determines that the 

person no longer meets criteria for commitment. !d. at 388. Thus, "[t]his statutory 

scheme comports with substantive due process because it does not permit continued 
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involuntary commitment of a person who is no longer mentally ill and dangerous." 

Id 

Pettis contends, however, that because the statute lacks a provision requiring 

the SCTF to accept an SVP, the statute violates his Itght to both substantive and 

procedural due process. Pet. at 7. Statutes are presumed constitutional. and the 

challenging party has the burden of provirig it is unconstitutional beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Young, 122 Wn.2d at 26. Pettis makes no such showing. Because 

Pettis has not established that he has a constitutionally protected right under the due 

process clause to the sort of summary proceeding he demands, his argument fails. 

The requirement that the courts consider less restrictive alternatives to total 

confmement derives from the equal protection clause. Young 122 Wn.2d at 47, 

accord Thorell149 Wn.2d 724. Pettis' challenge, however, is based in due process, 

and he claims not only that he is constitutionally entitled to consideration of an LRA; 

he claims that he is constitutionally entitled to be summarily placed, without trial and 

without any opportunity for the State or DSHS to respond, in a specific LRA of his 

choosing and over the (apparent) objections ofthat placement. Pet. at 7. Beyond 

citing to a variety of cases. that stand broadly for the proposition the civil 

commitment implicates due process, however, he cites to no cases that support his 

contention. Illdeed, his claim that, under the due process clause, he has a 

constitutionally-protected liberty interest in an LRA, was specifically rejected by 

Division I in In re Bergen, 146 Wn. App. at 524, review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1041 

(2009). There, Bergen, a committed SVP appealing the results of his LRA trial, 

argued that the statutory provision allowing the State to defeat a proposed LRA 
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placement based on proof that it is not in the offender's "best interest" violated his 

right to due process. Id. at 523-24. He asserted, as does Pettis, that he "has a 

fundamental liberty interest in his conditional release because '[i]nvoluntary civil 

commitment and indefinite detention are serious infringements of an individual's 

liberty interest."' Id at 525. (Cf Pet. at 6-11). 

Rejecting his argument, the court noted that this assertion was based on cases 

"involving due process challenges to the initial SVP commitment, not to a post-

commitment petition for an LRA, which is at issue here," and held that the due 

process clause "does not create a liberty interest when a sexually violent predator 

seeks release before the court has determined that he or she is no longer likely to 

reo/fend or that he or she is entitled to conditional release to a less restrictive 

alternative." Id., citing Detention of Enright, 131 Wn.App. 706, 714, 128 P.3d 1266 

(2006), review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1029, 152 P.3d 1033 (2007) (emphasis added).10 

No court had, at the time of-trial, ever made even a threshold determination of 

probable cause for trial on the issue of conditional release, much less found that 

Pettis is entitled to release. As such, Pettis has not demonstrated his asserted 

constitutionally-protected liberty interest in release. 

Nor does Pettis have a right to the sort of specific placement he seeks. Pettis 

fails to cite a single case in which a court has ordered a specific placement of a 

person in custody- whether civilly or criminally detained- over the objections of 

that facility. Pettis has not demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is

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